ARTICLE IN PRESS

Vaccine xxx (2018) xxx-xxx

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Vaccine

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/vaccine

Aluminum in vaccines: Does it create a safety problem?

Nicola Principi^a, Susanna Esposito^{b,*}

^a Emeritus of Pediatrics, Università degli Studi di Milano, Milan, Italy ^b Pediatric Clinic, Department of Surgical and Biomedical Sciences, Università degli Studi di Perugia, Perugia, Italy

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 10 December 2017 Received in revised form 3 August 2018 Accepted 15 August 2018 Available online xxxx

Keywords: Aluminum Autism spectrum disorder Chronic fatigue syndrome Macrophagic myofaciitis Myalgic encephalomyelitis Neurodevelopmental delay

ABSTRACT

For almost a century, aluminum (Al) in the form of Al oxyhydroxide (a crystalline compound), Al hydroxyphosphate (an amorphous Al phosphate hydroxide), Al phosphate, and Al potassium sulfate has been used to improve the immunogenicity of vaccines. Al is currently included in vaccines against tetanus, hepatitis A, hepatitis B, human papillomavirus, Haemophilus influenzae type b, and infections due to Streptococcus pneumoniae and Neisseria meningitidis. Official health authorities consider the inclusion of Al in most of the presently recommended vaccines to be extremely effective and sufficiently safe. However, the inclusion of Al salts in vaccines has been debated for several years because of studies that seem to indicate that chronic Al exposure through vaccine administration can interfere with cellular and metabolic processes leading to severe neurologic diseases. Children, who in their first years of life receive several vaccine doses over a reduced period of time, would be most susceptible to any risk that might be associated with vaccines or vaccine components. The main aim of this paper was to discuss the data presently available regarding Al neurotoxicity and the risk for children receiving vaccines or other pharmaceutical preparations containing Al. Analysis of the literature showed that no apparent reason exists to support the elimination of Al from vaccines for fear of neurotoxicity. The only problem that deserves attention is the suggested relationship between Al oxyhydroxide-containing vaccines and macrophagic myofaciitis or myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome. Currently, definitive conclusions cannot be drawn on these risks and further studies must be conducted. Until then, Al remains the best solution to improve vaccine efficacy.

© 2018 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	Aluminum (AL) disposition
3.	The neurotoxicity of aluminum (AL). 00
	3.1. Unquestionable demonstrations of aluminum (Al) neurotoxicity
	3.2. Potential association between aluminum (AI) and Alzheimer's disease and autism spectrum disorder (ASD): pros and cons
	3.3. The problem of aluminum (Al) adjuvants and the development of macrophagic myofaciitis (MMF) and the autoimmune/autoinflammatory
	syndrome (ASIA) induced by adjuvants00
4.	Conclusions
	Acknowledgments
	Conflicts of interest
	References

* Corresponding author at: Pediatric Clinic, Department of Surgical and Biomedical Sciences, Università degli Studi di Perugia, Piazza Menghini 1, 06129 Perugia, Italy.

E-mail address: susanna.esposito@unimi.it (S. Esposito).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.08.036 0264-410X/© 2018 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Please cite this article in press as: Principi N, Esposito S. Aluminum in vaccines: Does it create a safety problem?. Vaccine (2018), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vaccine.2018.08.036



Review



2

1. Introduction

For almost a century, aluminum (Al) in the form of Al oxyhydroxide (a crystalline compound). Al hydroxyphosphate (an amorphous Al phosphate hydroxide), Al phosphate, and Al potassium sulfate has been used to improve the immunogenicity of vaccines [1]. Al is currently included in vaccines against tetanus, hepatitis A, hepatitis B, human papillomavirus, Haemophilus influenzae type b, and infections due to Streptococcus pneumoniae and Neisseria meningitidis. Official health authorities consider the inclusion of Al in most of the presently recommended vaccines to be extremely effective and sufficiently safe. In a workshop sponsored by the US National Vaccine Program Office, which was specifically planned to discuss the role of Al in vaccines, invited international experts concluded that Al salts were capable of directly stimulating the immune system through the activation of antigen-presenting cells, complement cascades, and the induction of chemokine secretion [1]. Consequently, when added to vaccine antigens, AI can lead to a significant increase in the immune response with higher and more persistent production of specific antibodies against antigens included in the vaccines, although its largest flaw is that Al usually only induces a Th2 immune response. Moreover, the same workshop demonstrated that Al adjuvants have an apparent wide margin of safety because adverse events following their administration were uncommon and showed poor clinical relevance. Although these and similar statements are shared by scientific authorities worldwide [2,3], the inclusion of Al salts in vaccines has been debated for several years, and it is one of the problems that might partially explain the vaccine refusals of some parents and physicians [4]. Studies that seem to indicate that chronic Al exposure through vaccine administration can interfere with several cellular and metabolic processes leading to severe diseases, including neurodevelopmental delay, autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and Alzheimer's disease (AD), are the basis for this debate [5-10].

Children, who in their first years of life receive several vaccine doses over a reduced period of time, are considered to be at the highest risk for Al-dependent, vaccine-related complications. Despite reassurances from health authorities, the question continues to be raised, and the elimination of Al from vaccines continues to be discussed, even through the mass media [11]. Recently, a study showing that subcutaneous injections of AI at vaccineadjuvant levels activated homologous genes with biomarkers of autism in mouse brains has provided even more support for the opponents of vaccines. Practically, some supposed that this study might represent the final demonstration that Al induces the development of autism in predisposed individuals. The article was retracted a few weeks after its publication at the request of the editor-in-chief and the authors because the data and the results presented in the paper were clearly not reliable [12]. However, as has previously occurred for the supposed relationship between the measles, mumps and rubella vaccine and autism [13], negative data can have a greater resonance than their retraction, and the risk that fake news persistently supports vaccine opponents remains significant. The main aim of this paper was to discuss the data presently available regarding Al neurotoxicity and the risk for children receiving vaccines or other pharmaceutical preparations containing Al.

2. Aluminum (AL) disposition

Al is an environmental metal that is the third most abundant element in the earth's crust and represents approximately 8% of the crust's total mineral components. Moreover, it is largely used in many human activities, including food and drug preparation. Finally, the release of Al to the air from industrial processes and acidic precipitation, which mobilizes the metal from natural sources, is common [14]. This airborne Al can pass to the water or be inhaled. Thus, humans are continuously exposed to Al, and it can be found (although in different concentrations) in all of the body tissues and fluids beginning at birth. Starting with the evidence that the mean Al blood level of term neonates is $0.19 \pm 011 \mu \text{mol/L}$ [15] and that the Al in the blood accounts for approximately 4% of the total Al in the body [16], the total body content of this metal at birth has been calculated to be approximately 400 μ g [17].

Total body Al concentrations increase with exposure and are generally significantly higher in adults than in children. The highest levels are found in the skeletal system and the lungs, which contain approximately 50% and 25% of the body burden, respectively. Significantly lower concentrations, 10%, 3% and 1%, are usually detected in the muscle, liver and brain, respectively [18].

Food and vaccines are the most important sources of Al for infants and young children. However, vaccines play a major role in this regard because Al absorption from the gastrointestinal tract is poor. Approximately 0.2-0.4% of the ingested Al is absorbed and reaches the bloodstream, with variations based on the type of Al salt [19,20]. During infancy, general fluid consumption varies from approximately 600–900 mL per day, and Al intake depends on the dietary source. Breast milk contains a mean of 40 µg/L, whereas Al levels in formula are significantly higher, ranging from 225 μ g/L to 1150 µg/L because food industries use Al components in processing facilities and add Al to food preparation to improve mixing and reduce caking [21-25]. After weaning, Al intake increases and reaches a mean of approximately 700 µg per day [26]. Thus, no more than 2–3 µg per day of Al derived from food enter the systemic circulation during the first year of life. In contrast, almost the full amount of Al included in vaccines given intramuscularly is bioavailable, albeit at a rate over time and with differences among Al salts [27]. It has been calculated that only 51% of Al phosphate and 17% of Al hydroxide reach the bloodstream after a single intramuscular (i.m.) injection in the first 28 days after injection, and the remaining amount is absorbed in 28 and 137 days, respectively [17]. In vaccines, the maximum amount of Al per dose varies from vaccine to vaccine, with a maximum in combined preparations that can range from slightly more than 800 µg per dose, a value that matches the US regulations that limit the amount of Al in the recommended individual dose of biological products (including vaccines), to not more than 850–1250 µg. An FDA study found that the maximum amount of Al an infant should be exposed to over the first year of life is $4225 \,\mu g$ when the recommended ACIP vaccine schedule is used for calculation. This finding was confirmed by Glanz et al., who examined the cumulative and episodic vaccine Al exposure in a sample of 408,608 children ranging in age from birth to 24 months [28]. The mean cumulative Al exposure from the vaccines varied from $1110 \pm 320 \,\mu g$ to $4000 \pm 800 \,\mu g$ between 92 and 730 days of age. In 2002, an attempt was made to evaluate whether intakes due to food and vaccines could be excessive and lead to clinical problems. Keith et al. compared the calculated body burdens with those expected for exposure at a level considered safe for intermediate-duration exposure according to the minimum risk level (MRL) established at that time $(2000 \mu g/kg/day)$ by the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry [29]. These authors found that during the first year of life, the calculated body burden from Al exposure from food was always below the MRL curve, suggesting that diet could not cause clinical problems. The same findings were reported for vaccines for all but a few brief periods following injection. Recently, the analysis of Keith et al. was updated, and new parameters were included [29]. Contemporaneous MRLs (1000 μ g/kg/day) and some variables capable of better evaluating the retention and excretion of Al in younger children were introduced [27]. In this study, previous data

were substantially confirmed [27]. However, considering the speed with which Al is absorbed from the injection site, the body burden of Al from vaccines was only 2-fold higher than that of foods.

However, both of these studies were strongly criticized. In the opinion of Masson et al. [30], Keith et al. used too high of an MRL together with an erroneous model of 100% immediate absorption of vaccine Al [29]. Moreover, the authors did not consider renal or blood-brain barrier immaturity. Although significantly improved from a methodological point of view, the results of Mitkus et al. were also debated [17]. Once again, the MRL (1000 μ g/kg/day), although lower than that used in the previous study, was considered too high compared with the amount used in experimental studies of Al-induced memory and behavioral changes. However, the most important criticism was that Mitkus et al. did not account for the elimination of Al from the body as being different when the element is ingested or inhaled or when it is injected via the intramuscular route [17]. When Al is ingested or inhaled, body accumulation occurs only when intake is abnormally high or when renal elimination is significantly impaired. In contrast, when Al is injected together with vaccine antigens, elimination is slower because a relevant portion of Al remains at the injection site inside the macrophages that initiate the immune response [31]. Phagocytes transport Al particles relatively quickly to the lymphoid organs and then to the bloodstream [32]. Cells with Al might reach distant organs.

3. The neurotoxicity of aluminum (AL)

3.1. Unquestionable demonstrations of aluminum (Al) neurotoxicity

Several in vitro, experimental and epidemiological studies have clearly shown that Al is toxic, especially for the central nervous system (CNS). It has been reported that Al in the brain significantly alters cellular functions, both through interference with energy metabolism and phosphorylation and dephosphorylation processes and through modification of gene expression. Moreover, it reduces neurotransmitter release, influences the activity of ion channels, alters membrane properties, and favours abnormal protein accumulation [33]. To avoid the risk of severe adverse events following Al exposure, many health authorities have defined maximum tolerable oral intakes. As previously reported, the US has defined the oral MRL as 1000 µg/kg/day for both acute and chronic administration [34]. However, the World Health Organization [35] and the European Food Safety Authority [36] have stated significantly lower values, indicating the provisional tolerable weekly intake as 2000 µg/kg and 1000 µg/kg, respectively. All of these reference values are based on oral intake and do not consider other routes of Al, including vaccine administration. Consequently, they have a limited value for identifying the real risk of exposure. To overcome this problem, urine and serum maximal tolerable concentrations have been established based on values found in healthy adults and those with true AI-related diseases. Al levels <15 µg/L in urine and <5 µg/L in serum are considered the background exposure levels of the general population. The early signs of neurotoxicity usually occur when Al levels are $\ge\!\!13\,\mu\text{g/L}$ in plasma and \geq 120 µg/L in urine. Finally, the critical value for significant encephalopathy is $50 \mu g/L$ in plasma, whereas no definitive value has been established for urine [37–40]. However, reference values for children have not been defined. Consequently, it is very difficult to interpret serum and urine values in children, particularly the youngest [41]. On the other hand, information concerning the age-related toxicity of Al, particularly in young children, is very poor.

However, most of the cases in which a clear relationship exists between Al exposure and the development of neurotoxicity have been reported in animals and individuals with severe renal insufficiency or those exposed to high Al concentrations for months. Behavioral alterations have been demonstrated in rats when the animals were intraperitoneally (ip) injected for 6 months with $850 \,\mu g/kg$ three times per week [42]. Dramatic retinal changes were observed in rats injected ip with 0.3 mL of 4% AlCl₃ per day every day for 16 weeks [43]. A higher incidence of subjective neurological symptoms such as problems concentrating, depression, and fatigue were described in Al potroom or foundry workers at Al smelters who were exposed to very high inhaled Al doses and who had medium urine and serum concentrations that were well above the aforementioned reference values [44,45]. Impaired speech, apraxia and, later, dementia were found in patients with end-stage renal disease who were chronically dialysed with solutions containing Al or who continuously used gastric antacids or Al phosphate binders. In these cases, plasma Al concentrations between 80 and 500 ug/L were observed. Moreover, specific EEG changes (alternating spikes and slow waves) that are considered characteristic of Al toxicity were shown. However, brain tissue modifications were minimal (slight cellular loss in the cortex, hippocampus and Purkinje cells) [40,46–50]. The accumulation of Al with the development of impaired bone mineralization and delayed neurological development was also observed in premature children with a physiologically reduced glomerular filtration rate who received long-term parenteral nutrition with a solution with a high Al content [51].

3.2. Potential association between aluminum (AI) and Alzheimer's disease and autism spectrum disorder (ASD): pros and cons

A potential association has been supposed between chronic Al exposure and the development of AD or ASD based on specific histochemical findings and epidemiological studies. Some studies have found that Al administration was followed by the development of brain lesions in animals, similar to those observed in people with AD [52]. However, the doses used in these experimental studies were abnormally high and far from those to which normal people are exposed. Moreover, the hypothesis that the accumulation of amyloid beta protein and amyloid plaque associated with AD was because Al use has largely waned given the numerous studies that have not found higher Al concentrations in the brains of patients with AD than in the brains of age- and sex-matched controls [53-56]. On the other hand, the histologic brain lesions shown in patients with dialysis-associated neurotoxicity were quite different from those typically reported in people with AD [40]. Furthermore, most of the data collected from epidemiological studies reject the hypothesis of an association between Al and AD development. Rondeau et al. reported that a high daily intake of Al through water was associated with cognitive impairment or AD [57]. This finding seems to suggest that Al is neurotoxic and that a real correlation exists between Al and AD. Moreover, neither Virk et al. [58] nor Salib et al. [59] found differences in the incidence of AD between individuals with chronic environmental Al exposure and controls. In contrast, Wang et al. reported apparently positive results [60]. These authors analysed 8 cohort and case-control studies involving 10 587 individuals and found that participants with chronic Al exposure through food or inhalation had a higher risk for AD development (odds ratio [OR] 1.71, 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.35-2.18). However, the results of this study were debated primarily because the study included participants without a definitive diagnosis of AD; therefore, it was possible that numerous dementia cases of different origins were included. Also debatable are the conclusions of Walton [61], who applied Hill's causality criteria to establish causality between exposure and outcome using the available data reporting that Al plays a causative role in the development of AD. A correlation was not definitively

demonstrated, but even if it had been, this finding could not be considered evidence of causation. However, no relationship was demonstrated between Al-containing vaccines and AD.

Similar limitations are characteristic of the studies regarding AD, particularly those studying the parenteral administration of Al, as occurs in vaccines. The results of studies in experimental animals cannot be generalized to humans because of the differences in administered Al doses and the methods used for administration. For example, in the animal model developed to explore the potential behavioral phenotypes and CNS alterations in early postnatal mice, Al was injected subcutaneously instead of i.m. as routinely occurs in children when vaccines with Al are given [62]. Tomljenovic and Shaw found that the increase in exposure to Al adjuvants was significantly correlated with the increase in ASD prevalence in the USA (r = 0.92, p < 0.0001) [63]. Moreover, the amount of Al administered at 3-4 months of age is correlated with the current prevalence of ASD in seven Western countries (r = 0.89-0.94. p = 0.0018 - 0.0248). These findings led the authors to conclude that Al is a potential contributing factor in the development of AD. However, this study has some problems. First, correlation and causation were confused. Moreover, as the Global Advisory Committee on Vaccine Safety stated [2], this and another study on the same topic by the same authors were seriously flawed [64]. Importantly, ecological studies, such as those carried out by these authors, cannot be used to assert a causal association because they do not link exposure to outcomes in individuals, and only make correlations between exposure and outcomes on population averages. Moreover, these studies were characterized by inaccurate ASD rates across different countries and differences in vaccination schedule among countries. On the other hand, a recent study that evaluated blood and hair Al levels, vaccine history and early infant development failed to demonstrate any correlation between Al blood levels and different aspects of infant development [65]. Similar findings were reported for hair concentrations, although an inverse relationship was found when motor scores were studied. However, extreme outlier hair Al values that might have decreased the significance of the results were excluded from the calculation, thereby limiting the value of this finding.

3.3. The problem of aluminum (Al) adjuvants and the development of macrophagic myofaciitis (MMF) and the autoimmune/ autoinflammatory syndrome (ASIA) induced by adjuvants

To increase the evidence that use of Al-containing pharmaceutical preparations lead to brain damage, supporters of this hypothesis have attempted to link immunization and the administration of Al-containing allergens for immunotherapy with the development of the autoimmune/autoinflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (ASIA) and, in particular, with macrophagic myofaciitis (MMF). ASIA was first described in 2011 and was defined as a group of disorders including autoimmunity, sick building syndrome, silicosis, Gulf war syndrome and macrophagic myofaciitis (MMF) occurring in individuals who have been exposed to vaccine adjuvants, including Al oxyhydroxide, or to various chemicals [66,67]. Moreover, it was recently suggested that lymphoma, Sjogren syndrome, narcolepsy, and phospholipid syndrome can be included in ASIA and possibly related to adjuvant administration [68–70]. Most of the data regarding the potential association between Al and the development of autoimmune diseases included in ASIA have been collected amongst patients who have received the hepatitis B and human papillomavirus vaccines [67]. Until now, more than 4000 cases have been reported [71]. However, most of the data that seem to identify vaccines as the cause of ASIA are unconvincing. First, the described cases of ASIA have been diagnosed using criteria that are not specific. The diagnostic criteria suggested by Sheonfeld and Agmon-Levin include conditions that

are commonly experienced in the community [72]. For example, the major criteria include exposure to either a vaccine adjuvant or an infection, a condition that occurs several times in any individual's life. Moreover, the long list of "typical" manifestations include myalgia, fatigue, pyrexia and insomnia; all of these symptoms commonly occur in a multitude of participants without autoimmunity. Furthermore, the major criteria leading to diagnoses of autoimmune disease and chronic fatigue syndrome practically leads to the diagnosis of ASIA in all cases. It is highly likely that all patients with an autoimmune disease or chronic fatigue syndrome have had a fever during the same period of time. Finally, most patients with autoimmunity have HLA haplotypes considered particular to ASIA. In addition, given the numerous participants who qualify for this diagnosis in this case, it is reasonable to raise questions about the specificity of this criterion [73]. Moreover, a large data series from human studies seem to negate the correlation between Al administration and any ASIA clinical manifestation. One year after the description of ASIA, an analysis of the available data led to the conclusion that the evidence that intradermal immunotherapy with Al-containing preparations can induce autoimmune diseases was very weak and was supported only by anecdote [74]. More recently, no association was found either between the hepatitis B vaccine and Haemophilus influenzae type b vaccine or between the hepatitis B vaccine and the development of multiple sclerosis or type 1 diabetes [75]. In addition (and contrary to what might be expected if Al-containing vaccines were capable of inducing autoimmunity), no increase in exacerbations in patients suffering from systemic lupus erythematosus who had received hepatitis B vaccine was reported [76]. Finally, the incidence of autoimmune diseases was lower in patients with allergic rhinitis treated with Al-containing antigen preparations than in those treated with nasal spray and antihistamines [74]. A recent study of 18,841 patients receiving an allergen-specific immunotherapy were compared with 428,484 conventionally treated participants confirmed this finding [73]. Interestingly, this study calculated no increase in autoimmune diseases, even though patients receiving allergen-specific immunotherapy had received 100-500 times more Al over 3-5 years than those given the hepatitis B or human papillomavirus vaccines.

Additional interesting data have been collected regarding MMF. This condition is characterized by a muscular lesion at the site of a previous i.m. vaccination in which large macrophages frequently containing Al oxyhydroxide and lymphocytes are included [77]. Muscle lesions are systematically associated with systemic signs and symptoms of diseases such as diffuse myalgias, chronic fatigue, and cognitive impairment. Taken together, these findings constitute the so-called myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS) that is diagnosed in approximately 50% of all patients with MMF [78,79]. Because no exposure to Al other than that due to vaccines was detected, immunization was considered the possible cause of the disease. However, this disease is rare and is diagnosed primarily in adults months or years after vaccine administration, most likely depending on inter-patient variation in the clearance of Al oxyhydroxide. A few sporadic paediatric cases have been described, and the association between MMF and CNS involvement is unclear in this population [80-84]. Al oxyhydroxide is the Al salt commonly found, although other Al salts are also included in vaccines, because Al oxyhydroxide has a much longer tissue residence time than other Al salts, which causes more persistent muscle lesions in experimental animals similar to those found in patients with MMF [85]. As previous reported, Al oxyhydroxide might affect immune cells in the brain and cause damage. To explain why billions of doses of vaccines containing Al oxyhydroxide did not cause any relevant problems and why MMF with brain damage occurs in very few cases, it was suggested that certain genetic characteristics of individuals play a role in this regard.

Some cases of MMF have been diagnosed in patients of the HLA-DRB1*01 group, which is associated with an increased risk of developing autoimmune diseases [86]. Moreover, other genetic factors can favour the brain penetration of Al. Studies involving experimental animals have demonstrated that Al translocation is higher after a systemic or cerebral increase in the activity of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1/CCL2). This chemokine plays a fundamental role in the regulation of the migration and infiltration of monocytes/macrophages and can influence Al biodistribution [87]. Elevated levels were found in the sera of patients with MMF [88]. Because MCP-1/CCL2 expression varies by age as well as genetic and environmental factors, it was considered plausible that the Al oxyhydroxide included in vaccines causes MMF and brain damage in predisposed patients [8].

Interestingly, the finding that the genotyping for 4 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) localized in the CCL2 gene of patients with MMF (but not controls) showed that the AG haplo-type of the SNP rs3760396C was associated with a slightly increased risk for disease [32]. However, despite these intriguing findings, the direct relationship between the Al oxyhydroxide contained in vaccines and the brain damage accompanying some cases of MMF should not be considered fully demonstrated. MMF unrelated to vaccination has been described, which suggests that other causes unrelated to vaccination are the cause of this clinical problem [89].

4. Conclusions

Presently, no population-based studies regarding the potential association between the Al in vaccines and the development of neurotoxicity have been conducted. This limits the evaluation of the neurotoxicity of Al-containing vaccines. However, billions of doses of these prophylactic preparations have been administered to children without incident and with enormous advantages regarding the prevention of common and severe infectious diseases. However, exposure to Al is associated with the development of severe clinical problems, including CNS deterioration, Fortunately, certain associations were found only in cases of long-term exposure to high amounts of Al or when the renal excretion of the element was impaired due to severe renal insufficiency. Moreover, the development of AD after Al exposure is far from certain, as is the potential correlation between Al-containing vaccines and ASIA. Although the bioavailability of Al included in vaccines differs from that of the Al derived from water, food or inhalation, and the exposure of young children to Al from vaccines is not precisely defined, the total Al exposure from immunization is likely significantly lower than the level that causes neurotoxicity. Furthermore, studies that seem to demonstrate a possible correlation between vaccines and ADS development in children are strongly debated because they are seriously flawed. Thus, current data do not support the elimination of Al from vaccines for fear of neurotoxicity.

The problem that deserves attention is the suggested relationship between Al oxyhydroxide -containing vaccines and MMF or ME/CSF. This relationship is supported by a series of experimental findings and specific data collected from patients that suggest that, in some cases, the Al contained in macrophages at the site of injection can reach the brain and cause damage in a few individuals who most likely have a genetic predisposition. Importantly, the described cases of MMF and ME/CSF are very few, and MMF cases not related to adjuvants have been described. Currently, definitive conclusions cannot be drawn. Thus, several studies must be conducted. Until then, Al improves vaccine immunogenicity and performance, and should be maintained; nevertheless, research on the pharmacokinetics of Al in vaccines should be encouraged.

Acknowledgments

This review was supported by a grant from the World Association of Infectious Diseases and Immunological Disorders (WAidid). The funding source had no impact on the literature search or preparation of the manuscript.

Conflicts of interest

None to declare.

References

- Eickhoff TC, Myers M. Workshop summary Aluminum in vaccines. Vaccine 2002;20(Suppl 3):S1–4.
- [2] World Health Organization. Global Advisory Committee on Vaccine Safety, June 2012. Weekly Epidemiol Rec 2012; 30:281–288 U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Study reports aluminum in vaccines poses extremely low risk to infants. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/biologicsbloodvaccines/ scienceresearch/ucm284520.htm laccessed on: November 7, 2017].
- [3] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Vaccine adjuvants. Available at: <<u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccinesafety/concerns/adjuvants.html></u> [accessed on November 7, 2017].
- [4] Principi N, Esposito S. Adverse events following immunization: real causality and myths. Expert Opin Drug Saf 2016;15:825–35.
- [5] Gherardi RK, Aouizerate J, Cadusseau J, Yara S, Authier FJ. Aluminum adjuvants of vaccines injected into the muscle: normal fate, pathology and associated disease. Morphologie 2016;100:85–94.
- [6] Morris G, Puri BK, Frye RE. The putative role of environmental aluminum in the development of chronic neuropathology in adults and children. How strong is the evidence and what could be the mechanisms involved? Metab Brain Dis 2017;32:1335–55.
- 7] Exley C. The toxicity of aluminum in humans. Morphologie 2016;100:51-5.
- [8] Gherardi RK, Eidi H, Crépeaux G, Authier FJ, Cadusseau J. Biopersistence and brain translocation of aluminum adjuvants of vaccines. Front Neurol 2015;6:4.
- [9] Shaw CA, Tomljenovic L. Aluminum in the central nervous system (CNS): toxicity in humans and animals, vaccine adjuvants, and autoimmunity. Immunol Res 2013;56:304–16.
- [10] Shaw CA, Li D, Tomljenovic L. Are there negative CNS impacts of aluminum adjuvants used in vaccines and immunotherapy? Immunotherapy 2014;6:1055–71.
- [11] Miller NZ. Aluminum. Miller's review of critical vaccine studies. 400 important scientific papers summarized for parents and researchers. Santa Fe, NM: New Atlantean Press; 2016. p. 44–63.
 [12] Li D, Tomljenovic L, Li Y, Shaw CA. Subcutaneous injections of aluminum at
- [12] Li D, Tomljenovic L, Li Y, Shaw CA. Subcutaneous injections of aluminum at vaccine adjuvant levels activate innate immune genes in mouse brain that are homologous with biomarkers of autism. J Inorg Biochem 2017;177:39–54.
- [13] Poland GA. MMR vaccine and autism: vaccine nihilism and postmodern science. Mayo Clin Proc 2011;86:869–71.
- [14] Krewski D, Yokel RA, Nieboer E, Borchelt D, Cohen J, Harry J, et al. Human health risk assessment for aluminum, aluminum oxide, and aluminum hydroxide. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev 2007;10(Suppl 1):1–269.
- [15] Sedman AB, Klein GL, Merritt RJ, Miller NL, Weber KO, Gill WL, et al. Evidence of aluminum loading in infants receiving intravenous therapy. N Engl J Med 1985;312:1337–43.
- [16] Priest ND. The biological behaviour and bioavailability of aluminum in man, with special reference to studies employing aluminum-26 as a tracer: review and study update. J Environ Monit 2004;6:375–403.
- [17] Mitkus RJ, King DB, Hess MA, Forshee RA, Walderhaug MO. Updated aluminum pharmacokinetics following infant exposures through diet and vaccination. Vaccine 2011;29:9538–43.
- [18] Willhite CC, Karyakina NA, Yokel RA, Yenugadhati N, Wisniewski TM, Arnold IM, et al. Systematic review of potential health risks posed by pharmaceutical, occupational and consumer exposures to metallic and nanoscale aluminum, aluminum oxides, aluminum hydroxide and its soluble salts. Crit Rev Toxicol 2014;44(Suppl 4):1–80.
- [19] Day JP, Barker J, Evans LJ, Perks J, Seabright PJ, Ackrill P, et al. Aluminum absorption studied by 26Al tracer. Lancet 1991;337:1345.
- [20] Greger JL, Baier MJ. Excretion and retention of low or moderate levels of aluminum by human subjects. Food Chem Toxicol 1983;21:473–7.
- [21] Koo WWK, Kaplan LA, Krug-Wispe SK. Aluminum contamination of infant formulas. J Parenteral Nutr 1988;12:170–3.
- [22] Weintraub R, Hams G, Meerkin M, Rosenberg AR. High aluminum content of infant milk formulas. Arch Dis Child 1986;61:914–6.
- [23] Simmer K, Fudge A, Teubner J, James SL. Aluminum concentrations in infant formulae. J Paediatr Child Health 1990;26:9–11.
- [24] Hawkins NM, Coffey S, Lawson MS, Delves HT. Potential aluminum toxicity in infants fed special infant formula. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1994:19:377-81.
- [25] Mandic ML, Grgic J, Grgic Z, Seruga M, Hasenay D. Aluminum levels in human milk. Sci Total Environ 1995;170:165–70.

ARTICLE IN PRESS

N. Principi, S. Esposito/Vaccine xxx (2018) xxx-xxx

- [26] Pennington JA, Schoen SA. Estimates of dietary exposure to aluminum. Food Addit Contam 1995;12:119–28.
- [27] U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Toxicological profile for aluminum. Available at: <<u>https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp22.pdf</u>> [accessed on: November 9, 2017].
- [28] Glanz JM, Newcomer SR, Daley MF, McClure DL, Baxter RP, Jackson ML, et al. Cumulative and episodic vaccine aluminum exposure in a population-based cohort of young children. Vaccine 2015;33:6736–44.
- [29] Keith LS, Jones DE, Chou CH. Aluminum toxicokinetics regarding infant diet and vaccinations. Vaccine 2002;20(Suppl. 3):S13–7.
- [30] Masson JD, Crépeaux G, Authier FJ, Exley C, Gherardi RK. Critical analysis of reference studies on aluminum-based adjuvants toxicokinetics. Ann Pharm Fr 2017;75:245–56.
- [31] Morefield GL, Sokolovska A, Jiang D, HogenEsch H, Robinson JP, Hem SL. Role of aluminum-containing adjuvants in antigen internalization by dendritic cells *in vitro*. Vaccine 2005;23:1588–95.
- [32] Khan Z, Combadière C, Authier FJ, Itier V, Lux F, Exley C. Slow CCL2-dependent translocation of biopersistent particles from muscle to brain. BMC Med 2013;11:99.
- [33] Kawahara M, Kato-Negishi M. Link between aluminum and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's Disease: the integration of the aluminum and amyloid cascade hypotheses. Int J Alzheimers Dis 2011;2011:276393.
- [34] Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Minimal Risk Levels (MRLs) for Hazardous Substances. Aluminum. Available at: https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/mrls/mrllist.asp#34tag> [accessed on: November 9, 2017].
- [35] World Health Organization. Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives: Safety evaluation of certain food additives and contaminants. Available on: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/44788/1/WHO_TRS_ 966_eng.pdf; 2012 [accessed on: November 9, 2017].
- [36] European Food Safety Authority. Safety of aluminum from dietary intake, scientific opinion of the panel on food additives, flavourings, processing aids and food contact materials (AFC). EFSA J 2008:1–3.
- [37] Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft: MAK- und BAT-Werte-Liste 2017: Maximale Arbeitsplatzkonzentrationen und Biologische Arbeitsstofftoleranzwerte. Ständige Senatskommission zur Prüfung gesundheitsschädlicher Arbeitsstoffe. Mitteilung 53. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH; 2017.
- [38] Kiesswetter E, Schaeper M, Buchta M. Longitudinal study on potential neurotoxic effects of aluminum: I. Assessment of exposure and neurobehavioral performance of Al welders in the train and truck construction industry over 4 years. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 2007;81:41–67.
- [39] Buchta M, Kiesswetter E, Schaper M. Neurotoxicity of exposures to aluminum welding fumes in the truck trailer construction industry. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 2005;19:677–85.
- [40] Parkinson IS, Ward MK, Kerr DN. Dialysis encephalopathy, bone disease and anaemia: the aluminum intoxication syndrome during regular haemodialysis. J Clin Pathol 1981;34:1285–94.
- [41] Zeager M, Woolf AD, Goldman RH. Wide variation in reference values for aluminum levels in children. Pediatrics 2012;129:e142–7.
- [42] Riihimäki V, Hänninen H, Akila R. Body burden of aluminum in relation to central nervous system function among metal inert-gas welders. Scand J Work Environ Health 2000;26:118–30.
- [43] Miu AC, Andreescu CE, Vasiu R, Olteanu AI. A behavioral and histological study of the effects of long-term exposure of adult rats to aluminum. Int J Neurosci 2003;113:1197–211.
- [44] Kiesswetter E, Schaeper M, Buchta M, Schaller KH, Rossbach B, Scherhag H, et al. Longitudinal study on potential neurotoxic effects of aluminum: I. Assessment of exposure and neurobehavioral performance of Al welders in the train and truck construction industry over 4 years. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 2007;81:41–67.
- [45] Kiesswetter E, Schäper M, Buchta M, Schaller KH, Rossbach B, Kraus T, et al. Longitudinal study on potential neurotoxic effects of aluminum: II. Assessment of exposure and neurobehavioral performance of Al welders in the automobile industry over 4 years. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 2009;82:1191–210.
- [46] Kerr DN, Ward MK, Ellis HA, Simpson W, Parkinson IS. Aluminum intoxication in renal disease. Ciba Found Symp 1992;169:123-35.
- [47] Klotz K, Weistenhöfer W, Neff F, Hartwig A, van Thriel C, Drexler H. The health effects of aluminum exposure. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2017;114:653–9.
- [48] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Elevated serum aluminum levels in hemodialysis patients associated with use of electric pumps-Wyoming, 2007. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2008;57:689-91.
 [49] Christie M, Lavergne V, Sikaneta T, Hue CS, Taskapan H, Tam PW, et al.
- [49] Christie M, Lavergne V, Sikaneta T, Hue CS, Taskapan H, Tam PW, et al. Hyperaluminemia during long-term dialysis: still relevant today. Am J Kidney Dis 2011;58:861–3.
- [50] Lavergne V, Ghannoum M, Christie M, Vo V, Tam PW, Ting R, et al. Risk factors and consequences of hyperaluminemia in a peritoneal dialysis cohort. Perit Dial Int 2012;32:645–51.
- [51] Fewtrell MS, Edmonds CJ, Isaacs E, Bishop NJ, Lucas A. Aluminum exposure from parenteral nutrition in preterm infants and later health outcomes during childhood and adolescence. Proc Nutr Soc 2011;70:299–304.
- [52] Al-Olayan EM, El-Khadragy MF, Abdel Moneim AE. The protective properties of melatonin against aluminum-induced neuronal injury. Int J Exp Pathol 2015;96:196–202.
- [53] Jacobs RW, Duong T, Jones RE, Trapp GA, Scheibel AB. A reexamination of aluminum in Alzheimer's disease: analysis by energy dispersive X-ray

microprobe and flameless atomic absorption spectrophotometry. Can J Neurol Sci 1989;16:498–503.

- [54] Chafi AH, Hauw JJ, Rancurel G, Berry JP, Galle C. Absence of aluminum in Alzheimer's disease brain tissue: electron microprobe and ion microprobe studies. Neurosci Lett 1991;123:61–4.
- [55] Landsberg JP, McDonald B, Watt F. Absence of aluminum in neuritic plaque cores in Alzheimer's disease. Nature 1992;360:65–8.
- [56] Lovell MA, Ehmann WD, Markesbery WR. Laser microprobe analysis of brain aluminum in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 1993;33:36–42.
- [57] Rondeau V, Jacqmin-Gadda H, Commenges D, Helmer C, Dartigues JF. Aluminum and silica in drinking water and the risk of Alzheimer's disease or cognitive decline: findings from 15-year follow-up of the PAQUID cohort. Am J Epidemiol 2009;169:489–96.
- [58] Virk SA, Eslick GD. Occupational exposure to aluminum and Alzheimer disease: a meta-analysis. J Occup Environ Med 2015;57:893–6.
- [59] Salib E, Hillier V. A case-control study of Alzheimer's disease and aluminum occupation. Br J Psychiatry 1996;168:244–9.
- [60] Wang Z, Wei X, Yang J, Suo J, Chen J, Liu X, et al. Chronic exposure to aluminum and risk of Alzheimer's disease: a meta-analysis. Neurosci Lett 2016;610:200–6.
- [61] Walton JR. Chronic aluminum intake causes Alzheimer's disease: applying Sir Austin Bradford Hill's causality criteria. J Alzheimers Dis 2014;40:765–838.
- [62] Shaw CA, Li Y. Tomljenovic L Administration of aluminum to neonatal mice in vaccine-relevant amounts is associated with adverse long term neurological outcomes. J Inorg Biochem 2013;128:237–44.
- [63] Tomljenovic L, Shaw CA. Do aluminum vaccine adjuvants contribute to the rising prevalence of autism? J Inorg Biochem 2011;105:1489–99.
- [64] Tomljenovic L, Shaw CA. Aluminum vaccine adjuvants: are they safe? Curr Med Chem 2011;18:2630–7.
- [65] Karwowski MP, Stamoulis C, Wenren LM, Faboyede GM, Quinn N, Gura KM, et al. Blood and hair aluminum levels, vaccine history, and early infant development: a cross-sectional study. Acad Pediatr 2017. Epub Sep 14. pii: S1876-2859 (17) 30483-7.
- [66] Shoenfeld Y, Agmon-Levin N. 'ASIA'—autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants. J Autoimmun 2011;36:4–8.
- [67] Watad A, Quaresma M, Brown S, Cohen Tervaert JW, Rodriguez-Pint I, Cervera R, et al. Autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (Shoenfeld's syndrome)—an update. Lupus 2017;26:675–81.
- [68] Colafrancesco S, Perricone C, Priori R, Valesini G, Shoenfeld Y. Sjogren's syndrome: another facet of the autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (ASIA). J Autoimmun 2014;51:10–6.
- [69] Arango MT, Kivity S, Shoenfeld Y. Is narcolepsy a classical autoimmune disease? Pharmacol Res 2015;92:6–12.
- [70] Butnaru D, Shoenfeld Y. Adjuvants and lymphoma risk as part of the ASIA spectrum. Immunol Res 2015;61:79–89.
- [71] Jara LJ, García-Collinot G, Medina G, Cruz-Dominguez MDP, Vera-Lastra O, Carranza-Muleiro RA, et al. Severe manifestations of autoimmune syndrome induced by adjuvants (Shoenfeld's syndrome). Immunol Res 2017;65:8–16.
- [72] Esposito S, Prada E, Mastrolia MV, Tarantino G, Codecà C, Rigante D. Autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (ASIA): clues and pitfalls in the pediatric background. Immunol Res 2014;60(2–3):366–75.
- [73] Ameratunga R, Gillis D, Gold M, Linneberg A, Elwood JM. Evidence Refuting the existence of autoimmune/autoinflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (ASIA). J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2017;5:1551–5.
- [74] Linneberg A, Jacobsen RK, Jespersen L, Abildstrom SZ. Association of subcutaneous allergen-specific immunotherapy with incidence of autoimmune disease, ischemic heart disease, and mortality. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2012;129:413–9.
- [75] Wraith DC, Goldman M, Lambert PH. Vaccination and autoimmune disease: what is the evidence? Lancet 2003;362:1659–66.
- [76] Kuruma KA, Borba EF, Lopes MH, de Carvalho JF, Bonfa E. Safety and efficacy of hepatitis B vaccine in systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus 2007;16:350–4.
- [77] Bassez G, Authier FJ, Lechapt-Zalcman E, Delfau-Larue MH, Plonquet A, Coquet M, et al. Inflammatory myopathy with abundant macrophages (IMAM): a condition distinct from macrophagic myofasciitis, sharing similarities with cytophagic histiocytic panniculitis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2003;62:464–74.
- [78] Santiago T, Rebelo O, Negrão L, Matos A. Macrophagic myofasciitis and vaccination: consequence or coincidence? Rheumatol Int 2015;35:189–92.
- [79] Authier FJ, Sauvat S, Champey J, Drogou I, Coquet M, Gherardi R. Chronic fatigue syndrome in patients with macrophagic myofasciitis. Arthritis Rheum 2003;48:569–70.
- [80] Lach B, Cupler EJ. Macrophagic myofasciitis in children is a localized reaction to vaccination. J Child Neurol 2008;23:614–9.
- [81] Gruis KL, Teener JW, Blaivas M. Pediatric macrophagic myofasciitis associated with motor delay. Clin Neuropathol 2006;25:172–9.
- [82] Lacson AG, D'Cruz CA, Gilbert-Barness E, Sharer L, Jacinto S, Cuenca R. Aluminum phagocytosis in quadriceps muscle following vaccination in children: relationship to macrophagic myofasciitis. Pediatr Dev Pathol 2002;5:151–8.
- [83] Nevo Y, Kutai M, Jossiphov J, Livne A, Neeman Z, Arad T, et al. Childhood macrophagic myofasciitis—consanguinity and clinicopathological features. Neuromuscul Disord 2004;14:246–52.
- [84] Sharma MC, Prentice A, Schmidt PF, Sharma N, Goebel HH. Macrophagic myofasciitis in a 3-month-old child. J Pediatr Neurol 2004;2(4):225–9.
- [85] Verdier F, Burnett R, Michelet-Habchi C, Moretto P, Fievet-Groyne F, Sauzeat E. Aluminum assay and evaluation of the local reaction at several time points

Please cite this article in press as: Principi N, Esposito S. Aluminum in vaccines: Does it create a safety problem?. Vaccine (2018), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vaccine.2018.08.036

6

ARTICLE IN PRESS

N. Principi, S. Esposito/Vaccine xxx (2018) xxx-xxx

after intramuscular administration of aluminum containing vaccines in the Cynomolgus monkey. Vaccine 2005;23:1359–67.

- [86] Guis S, Pellissier JF, Nicoli F, Reviron D, Mattei JP, Gherardi RK, et al. HLADRB1*01 and macrophagic myofasciitis. Arthritis Rheum 2002;46:2535–7.
 [87] Deshmane SL, Kremlev S, Amini S, Sawaya BE. Monocyte chemoattractant
- protein-1 (MCP-1): an overview. J Interferon Cytokine Res 2009;29:313–26.
- [88] Cadusseau J, Ragunathan-Thangarajah N, Surenaud M, Hue S, Authier FJ, Gherardi RK. Selective elevation of circulating CCL2/MCP1 levels in patients with longstanding post-vaccinal macrophagic myofasciitis and ASIA. Curr Med Chem 2014;21:511–7.
- [89] Park JH, Na KS, Park YW, Paik SS, Yoo DH. Macrophagic myofasciitis unrelated to vaccination. Scand J Rheumatol 2005;34:65–7.